© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N N N N N N NN P P PR R R R R R
N~ o O WN P O ©W 0O N O 0o M W N kB O

Case 2:10-cv-00664 Document1l  Filed 04/19/2010 Page 1 of 14

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

AT SEATTLE
AMAZON.COM, LLC )
) No.
Plaintiff, )
) COMPLAINT FOR
V. ) DECLARATORY RELIEF
) PURSUANT TO THE

KENNETH R. LAY , in his official capacity as) DECLARATORY JUDGMENT
Secretary of the North Carolina Department of ACT, 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2201 -2202
Revenue, )

)
Defendant. )

Plaintiff Amazon.com, LLC (“Amazon”) alleges for i@omplaint as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. The North Carolina Department of Revenue (the “DOR'gJemanding that
Amazon turn over the name and address of virtually eNerth Carolina resident who has
purchased anything from Amazon since 2003, along with recordbaifeach customer
purchased and how much they paid. If Amazon is forcednmply with this demand, the
disclosure will invade the privacy and violate the Firstelaiment rights of Amazon and its
customers on a massive scale. But the DOR does mbpeesonally identifiable information

about Amazon’s customers in order to audit Amazon’s camp? with state tax laws. All it
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needs to know is what items Amazon sold to North Gaaaustomers and what they paid,
and Amazon has already provided that information to th& DO

2. Accordingly, Amazon seeks a declaration, pursuant tDdwaratory
Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. 88 2201 - 2202, that the actions ofadffiacting on behalf of the
DOR, at the direction of the Defendant Kenneth R. CBefendant”) in his official capacity,
violate the United States Constitution, the WashingtateStonstitution, and federal law.

3. The DOR is auditing Amazon’s compliance with statesaind use tax laws.
To date, Amazon has cooperated fully with the audit, progitlhe DOR with voluminous
information about its sales to North Carolina, inahgg for each transaction: the order ID
number; the city, county, and zip code to which the ites stdpped; the total price for the
transaction; the date of the transaction; and Amazoavrslard product code for each item
(known as the Aazon $andard dlentification Number or ASIN). With these product codes,
the DOR is able to immediately find on Amazon’s webiigefull description of every
product purchased by Amazon’s North Carolina customers 20@® — nearly 50 million
items in all.

4. Notwithstanding the information that Amazon has alrgaayided, the DOR
now threatens Amazon with an administrative sumnamaissummary contempt proceeding if
Amazon does not turn over the name and address of edomeusvho purchased or received
any of the millions of books, movies, music CDs, or pgfreducts that Amazon sold to
North Carolina customers.

5. The DOR does not need personally identifiable customemnaion to audit
Amazon’s compliance with applicable tax laws, and Amazgooses the DOR’s demand for
information that is irrelevant to that audit. Amazwithout violating its customers’ privacy,
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fully cooperated by furnishing data requested by the DOR to coiduax analysis. But the
DOR has no business seeking to uncover the identity ozéms customers who purchased
expressive content, which makes up the majority of thelyn&0 million products sold to
North Carolina residents during the audit period, let akms®ciating customers’ names and
addresses with the specific books, music, and video dahirthey have purchased during
the past seven years.

6. There is no allegation by the DOR that any of the prodictazon customers
purchased is in any way unlawful. Rather, the identitresexpressive choices of these
customers have become subject to government scartipypecause those products were
purchased from an out-of-state retailer. The DOR®@as threaten to chill the exercise of
customers’ expressive choices and to cause Amazon custoatgo purchase certain books,
music, movies or other expressive material from Amahanthey might otherwise purchase
if they did not fear disclosure of those choicesh®dgovernment.

7. Amazon asserts the privacy and First Amendment rigfitself and of its
customers so that Amazon may sell — and customerseaady lear or view — a broad range
of popularand unpopular expressive materials with the customers’ pra@téent choices
protected from unnecessary government scrutiny. This gro@acern is even greater for
public figures who have purchased items from Amazon, bec¢hasgurchase histories may
generate significant political or press interest oentlise be made public.

8. Amazon seeks a declaration that the DOR’s ongoing defoamiformation
that will disclose the names, addresses and purchasing b&Bimazon’s North Carolina
customers violates the rights of Amazon to sell, amdustomers to purchase, books, movies
music, and other lawful expressive content free from gowent intrusion into the
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customers’ reading, viewing and listening choices. Thebésraye secured under the First
Amendment of the United States Constitution, Articlselctions 4 and 5 of the Washington
State Constitution, and federal law. The DOR’s demanthk identity of customers who
purchased video material also violates the Video PrivasteEtion Act of 1988, 18 U.S.C.
§ 2710. Declaratory relief from this Court is necessagvbid piecemeal litigation or

inconsistent rulings in the event other states make sigelaands for customer data.

PARTIES

9. Plaintiff Amazon.com, LLC is a Delaware limited lifity company with its
principal place of business in Seattle, Washington.

10. Defendant Kenneth R. Lay is the Secretary and hetdetdOR pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 143B-220. The DOR is charged with therastration of tax laws and
regulations. Defendant has been, is currently, andoeificting under color of authority and

law of the State of North Carolina.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. Amazon’s claims arise under federal law, including thetFAmendment to
the United States Constitution and the Video Privacydetion Act of 1988, 18 U.S.C.
8§ 2710. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 1331,at843201.
Declaratory relief is warranted by 28 U.S.C. 88 2201 and 2202.

12.  Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2aumexthe
events at issue took place in substantial part in thigsi@idoecause a substantial part of
Amazon’s property at issue is located in this Distrint] because compliance with any

demands of the DOR for disclosure of customer data wall place largely in this District.
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13.  This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendarg.déscribed below, the
DOR’s employees, acting under Defendant’s supervisiordaeadtion, specifically targeted
and instituted an audit of a Washington corporation; dicetelephone calls and
correspondence to Amazon’s headquarters in Washington; asahp#y visited and met
with Amazon employees and reviewed Amazon'’s recordsratzAn’s offices in Seattle,
Washington. Furthermore, the harm resulting from the B@iRtions will occur in
Washington, because the information sought by Defendant wauklto be aggregated and
disclosed by Amazon employees located in Washingtonsaetdactions would constitute
the constitutional and statutory violations describedihere

14.  Amazon’s complaint against Secretary Lay is also aigddmunder the
doctrine ofEx Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908), because Amazon seeks prospective relie
against a state official who has engaged in a continuaigtion of federal law.

15.  Amazon stands to suffer real and tangible harm throwggaridant’s actions,
which threaten to chill customers’ purchases. Amafmlaas standing to assert its
customers’ constitutional speech and expression rightishvinclude the right to make

purchases of expressive material without disclosing itheintities.

FACTS

Amazon'’s Business

16. Amazon is one of the world’s largest online retaildrbanks, music, movies
and other products.

17. Amazon has no employees, computer servers, equipmearghouses, office
space or other property or physical presence in the dtilerth Carolina. Amazon is not

registered as a foreign entity with the North CasBecretary of State.
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18. Amazon’s customers purchase goods online and pay for thelrgaas
electronically. The online transaction process generatesds of all customer purchases,
including the purchase of specific expressive materials asitiooks, movies (such as DVDs,
Blu-Ray discs, and VHS tapes), and music (such as Cormmas (CDs) and Long Playing
vinyl records).

19. Because Amazon’'s website sells expressive materials pdteyg the First
Amendment, Amazon’s website is a constitutionally e forum where ideas are
exchanged.

20. To assure its customers that Amazon does not volunsdrdre the customers’
expressive and other product choices, Amazon posts a litskkRavacy Notice at the bottom
of practically every page on its website.

21. Amazon’s customers have a reasonable expectation thata@n will not
disclose the details of any customer’s purchase of sgjmeeor other materials, except as
specifically set forth in the Privacy Notice.

22.  This reasonable expectation of customer privacy is irmapbtb Amazon’s
business. Customers who fear that their purchasesotilenprivate are less likely to
purchase books, movies, music or other items that meypeksonal, sensitive, or
controversial. Amazon’s disclosure of the privated@oer information the DOR demands is
likely to chill customer purchases of these kinds of nielte Amazon therefore objects to

government demands for customer purchase records.
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The DOR’s Requests

23. Between August 1, 2003, and February 28, 2010, customers in Noaim&a
purchased more than 50 million books, music CDs, DVDsp#met products from
Amazon’s website.

24.  The team of employees responsible for Amazon’s adecwuand tax
compliance is located in Amazon’s Seattle officetis Team coordinates and oversees
Amazon’s compliance with tax laws and its respons@sguaries from representatives of
various tax jurisdictions, including the DOR.

25. On December 1, 2009, as part of an audit of Amazon for lcange with state
sales and use tax laws, the DOR sent an Informati@ument Request (the “December
Information Request”) to Amazon at its principal placéwsiness in Seattle, Washington.

26.  Question 16 of the December Information Request asked,tirtiar Amazon
provide “all information for all sales to customers watiNorth Carolina shipping address by
month in an electronic format” for all dates betwéemgust 1, 2003, and February 28, 2010.

27.  Acting in good faith, Amazon employees in Seattle gtegtithe DOR with
detailed information about millions of purchases made byHN\©arolina customers during
the relevant time period. Specifically, Amazon providedDIOR with responses to all of the
data fields specified by the DOR that were reasonalibirdible from Amazon’s records,
including: order ID number, seller, ship-to city, county, pbsbde, the non-taxable amount
of the purchase, and tax audit record identificatioa {thitial Data”). Amazon obtained and
provided the information responsive to the December Infobom#&Request using computers in
Amazon’s Seattle offices.

28. Included in the Initial Data was the specific product cadesfich item

purchased, which is known as thenAzon Pecific Identification Number, or ASIN. If the
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DOR searches for any ASIN number on the Amazon welsitan find the item and learn
the title and description of each book, DVD, music s&a¢cor other item purchased by the
customer.

29. To protect customer privacy, including customer choices pfessive
material, Amazon didot provide the DOR with the name, address, phone numbeajle-m
address or other personally identifiable informationmyf eustomer.

30. From March 15 to March 17, 2010, and resuming on March 19, 201Qsagen
of the DOR physically visited Amazon’s Seattle officaed anet with Amazon employees in
furtherance of the DOR'’s efforts to obtain informatioom Amazon regarding Amazon’s
sales to North Carolina residents. One DOR agent, Rde€oy, is based in North
Carolina. The second DOR agent, Jerri Noland, is badedrtland, Oregon. Amazon
employees provided these DOR agents with responsive détamdata CD and via e-mail.

31. By letter hand delivered on March 19, 2010, to Amazon in Be#tashington
(the “March Information Request”), the DOR stated #hiaiazon’s initial response to
Question 16 of the December Information Request omittetBildo Name; Bill to Address
(Street, City, State, and Zip); Ship to Name; Ship to Addi®&sset); Product/item code or
description” (the “Customer Data”). The DOR demandet Aln@azon provide this
information “for examination” on or before April 19, 2010.

32.  Amazon has not yet responded to the March InformatequBst.

Amazon’s Rights Under the First Amendment,
the Washington State Constitution and Federal Law

33.  The March Information Request states that Amazon’srfailo disclose the
Customer Data will “prompt the state to issue a summoascordance with North Carolina

General Statute 8 105-258."” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 105-258 alleevBOR to seek to enforce the
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administrative summons in a summary proceeding in $up€ourt of Wake County, North
Carolina.

34. Amazon already furnished the Initial Data, including ti&M number, for all
purchases responsive to the December Information Requestcolléction and disclosure of
the Customer Data will impose a significant burden ora2om. Moreover, the disclosure of
the Customer Data will identify to the DOR the id&es of customers who have purchased
books, movies, music and other items, and will link thmsehases directly to the customers’
names and addresses, exposing their otherwise privaiage@aéwing, listening and other
personal choices to government scrutiny. Yet the ienit any Amazon customer is
irrelevant to the DOR'’s audit of Amazon’s tax compliance

35.  As of the filing of this Complaint, Amazon must eitleamply with the DOR’s
information request and violate the privacy and First Agneent rights of Amazon and its
North Carolina customers, or refuse to comply witeguest from a state agency that has
stated its intention to issue an administrative summaémsazon thus seeks to protect its
rights and the rights of its customers through a dedargudgment by this Court.

36. To the extent that the DOR intends to use the Custbaex to contact
Amazon’s customers about their reading, viewing, listenimthather choices, or to the extent
that customers otherwise become aware that their @sirch habits may be disclosed to the
government, the March Information Request will likely cAlnazon’s customer willingness
to purchase sensitive or unpopular expressive material.

37.  For example, the information Amazon has already proMidehe DOR shows
that Amazon customers in North Carolina have purchasegteived potentially sensitive or
personal books such as:
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“Bipolar Disorder: A Guide for Patients and Familiesy’Francis Mark Mondimore
(ASIN 0801883148);

“He Had It Coming: How to Outsmart Your Husband and Waur Divorce,” by
Stacy Schneider (ASIN 1416949356);

“Living With Alcoholism: Your Guide To Dealing With Aldm! Abuse And
Addiction While Getting The Alcoholism Treatment Youdde’ by KM S
Publishing.com (ASIN 1450501354);

“What to Do When You Can’'t Get Pregnant: The Completel&to All the
Technologies for Couples Facing Fertility Problems,” bypiBbA. Potter and Jennifer
S. Hanin (ASIN 1569243719); and

“Outing Yourself: How to Come Out as Lesbian or Gay twiYFamily, Friends, and
Coworkers,” by Michelangelo Signorile (ASIN 0684826178).

38. Some of the movies that Amazon’s North Carolina custerhave purchased

include: “Lolita” (1962) (DVD) (ASIN BO00UJ48VI); “Brokeback Mouainh” (2005) (DVD)
(ASIN BO0005JOFQ); and “Fahrenheit 9/11” (2004) (DVD) (ASIN BOOOSBR)T to name
just a few. Other Amazon customers have purchased pdteotiatroversial music,
including recordings by Eminem such as “The Marshall MatheffASIN BOOO04T9UF)

and “The Slim Shady LP” (ASIN BO0000I5JQ).

39. These and other books, movies, and music could be consgiersitive,

personal, controversial or unpopular. Each order of a,bookie, CD or other expressive
work potentially reveals an intimate fact about anaZon customer. Public figures who haveg
purchased expressive works and other items from Amazontihawaelditional concern that

their purchase histories will be scrutinized and used fatiqgadlpurposes, appear in the press,
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or otherwise be made public. Yet the DOR demands to knowehéties and other personal
information about Amazon’s customers who have purchasegteived these products.
Amazon customers, however, have a reasonable expadtsioAmazon will maintain their
selections in confidence and do not expect the governmettain a record of their

selections of expressive material.

COUNT |
(Freedom of Speech, Expression and Association, U.S. Conamend. I;
Washington State Const., Art. I, Sec. 4 and 5)

40. Amazon restates and incorporates in this paragraph ggaatins contained in
Paragraphs 1 through 39 of this Complaint.

41. The First Amendment protects the right to distribugdl, purchase and receive
lawful expressive materials free from government scrutiny

42.  Amazon’s compliance with the March Information Requestild reveal the
identities of hundreds of thousands of Amazon customboshave purchased over 30
million lawful expressive works from Amazon with theasonable expectation that their
choices would remain private and free from governmenisigin. Amazon’s compliance
would allow the DOR to learn which books, movies, musit ather expressive works each
North Carolina customer purchased from Amazon.

43.  Amazon’s compliance with the March Information Requestild chill
Amazon’s customers’ free speech and expression and il Amazon’s ability to sell
expressive works to the public.

44. The DOR has not made any showing of need or relevaraatam the
Customer Data, let alone the requisite heightened islgoat a compelling need for

information that identifies customers who purchase cgive expressive materials. Nor has
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the DOR shown that there are no reasonable alteenai@ans of satisfying the DOR'’s overly
broad March Information Request. The DOR’s intereshénCustomer Data is not
sufficiently compelling to outweigh the harm thatdisclosure would cause to the First
Amendment and privacy rights of Amazon and its custemer

45. Indeed, the DOR has not explained why personally idellisformation
about Amazon’s North Carolina customers is relevanhynveay to the DOR'’s purported
interest in auditing Amazon’s compliance with statd tal sales and use tax laws.
Amazon has disclosed to the DOR all data about thébens of transactions (such as the
amount of each sale and the type of item) other thatomer names and other personal
information. Thus, the DOR has all the informatibnaeds to complete its audit of Amazon.
There is no discernible need for the DOR to know tketities and other personal
information linking specific customers with any purchasach less purchases of books,
movies, music and other expressive works.

46. Amazon and its customers will suffer irreparable injurytteir constitutional
rights under the First Amendment of the United Stamss@tution, and Amazon will suffer
irreparable harm to its rights under Article I, sectidnand 5 of the Washington State
Constitution if the March Information Request is not dead invalid and if other relief, to the

extent necessary to prevent irreparable injury, is n@ratke granted.

COUNT Il
(Violation of the Video Privacy Protection Act, 18 U.S.C. § 2710)

47.  Amazon restates and incorporates in this paragraph ggaatins contained in

Paragraphs 1 through 46 of this Complaint.
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48. To the extent that the DOR seeks Customer Data as &zdémis sales of video
material, the March Information Request conflicts vaitid violates the Video Privacy
Protection Act of 1988, 18 U.S.C. § 2710.

49.  Amazon is engaged in the business, in or affecting tattersr foreign
commerce, of rental, sale, or delivery of prerecordedovidessette tapes or similar
audiovisual materials such as DVDs, Blu-Ray discs, dA8 Yapes.

50. Many of Amazon’s customers are purchasers of Amazoniswagadal goods
or services.

51. Upon information and belief, the DOR has not given pnatice to any
video/DVD customer that the DOR seeks to individually idgtheir video/DVD purchases.

52. The DOR has not obtained a court order or demonstratechpelling need for
the information.

53.  The DOR has not obtained a warrant or demonstratethitrat is probable
cause to believe that the Customer Data is relegamidgitimate law enforcement inquiry.

54.  Compliance with the March Information Request would ca\rsazon to
knowingly disclose personally identifiable informatiomfoermation which identifies a
person as having requested or obtained specific video matarisérvices from Amazon —
concerning hundreds of thousands of consumers.

55. Compliance with the March Information Request would @lac unreasonable
burden on Amazon and its customers.

56. Amazon’s disclosure of the Customer Data would violate BTl § 2710.
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WHEREFORE, Amazon respectfully asks this Court for:

1. A declaration that, to the extent the March InfaiomaRequest demands that

Amazon disclose its customers’ names, addresses atlagrypersonal information, it

violates the First Amendment and 18 U.S.C. § 2710;

2. A declaration that, to the extent the March InfaiomaRequest demands that

Amazon disclose its customers’ names, addresses atlagrypersonal information, it

violates Article |, sections 4 and 5 of the WashingtoneSEanstitution; and

3. Such other and further relief as the Court deems eqgiaol just and

necessary, including any relief necessary to prevent nabfgaharm.

Respectfully submitted this 19th day of April, 2010.
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